
 
 
 

 
City of Westminster 
 

  
 

Council Agenda 
 

Title: 
 

 Council Meeting 

   

Meeting Date: 
 

 Wednesday 9th November, 2022 

   

Time: 
 

 7.00 pm 

   

Venue: 
 

 Westminster Council House, 97-113 Marylebone Road, 
London, NW1 5PT 

   

Members: 
 

 All Councillors are hereby summoned to attend the Meeting 
for the transaction of the business set out. 

    
   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 In line with legislation Committee members will attend the 
meeting in person. This meeting will be live streamed 
through the Council’s website.  
 
Limited admission to the public gallery is available from 
6.30pm. Please telephone if you are attending the meeting in 
a wheelchair or have difficulty walking up steps. There is 
wheelchair access via the Sammy Ofer Centre. 
 

    
 If you require any further information, please contact the 

Committee Officer, Janis Best, Committee and Councillor 
Support Manager. 
 
Email: jbest@westminster.gov.uk   Tel: 07971 920521 
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.westminster.gov.uk/


 

 

 

1.   APPOINTMENT OF RELIEF CHAIR  

 To appoint a relief Chair. 
 

 

2.   MINUTES (Pages 7 - 22) 

 To sign the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council meetings held 
on 17 and 21 September. 
 

 

3.   LORD MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS  

 1.      The Lord Mayor to report that, on Thursday 15th September, 
he attended a special gathering to honour HM Queen 
Elizabeth II at the London Central Mosque.  
 
 

2.       The Lord Mayor to report that, on Friday 16th September, he 
attended the Erev Shabbat Memorial Service at the West 
London Synagogue. 
 
 

3.      The Lord Mayor to report that, on Sunday 18th September, he 
attended a Service of Commemoration at St John’s Church. 
 
 

4.      The Lord Mayor to report that, on Monday 19th September, 
he attended the funeral of HM Queen Elizabeth II and a 
reception at Westminster Abbey. 
 
 

5.      The Lord Mayor to report that, on Tuesday 20th September, 
he attended a farewell reception for Jace Tyrell from the New 
West End Company at the Hippodrome Leicester Square. 
  

6.      The Lord Mayor to report that, on Wednesday 21st 
September, he attended the Marylebone Square 
Development Topping Out ceremony at Moxon Street. 

  
7.      The Lord Mayor to report that, from Thursday 22nd to Sunday 

25th September, he visited Bari, Italy to meet with the Lord 
Mayor. 

  
8.      The Lord Mayor to report that, on Tuesday 27th September, 

he attended a Culture at King’s Dinner at The Maughan 
Library. 

  

 



 
 

 

3

9.      The Lord Mayor to report that, on Wednesday 28th 
September, he toured five Westminster gardens and also 
attended the Paddington Partnership Annual Garden Party at 
Penfold Street and the opening of the Lucian Freud exhibition 
at the National Gallery. 

  
10.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Thursday 29th September, 

he attended a Westminster Business Council Networking 
event at the BT Tower. 

  
11.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Friday 30th September, he 

visited a number of Westminster care homes for Silver 
Sunday events. 

  
12.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Saturday 1st October, he 

attended the Summer Reading Challenge at the Odeon 
Leicester Square and the Mini London Marathon on Horse 
Guards Parade. 

  
13.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Sunday 2nd October, he 

attended the London Marathon on The Mall. 
  

14.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Monday 3rd October, he 
attended the Queen’s Green Canopy Gifting Ceremony at the 
Royal Hospital Chelsea. 

  
15.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Friday 7th October, he 

attended a lunch with the Hyatt Area Vice-President UK & 
Ireland at the Hyatt Churchill Hotel. 

  
16.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Sunday 9th October, he 

attended a Act of Hope and Remembrance for National Hate 
Crime Awareness Week at St Paul’s Cathedral. 

  
17.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Tuesday 11th October, he 

attended the Trees of Life Service of Remembrance at 
Westminster Abbey. 

  
18.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Wednesday 12th October, 

he attended the Edith Cavell Wreath Laying Ceremony at 
Trafalgar Square, a Film Soho Event at Portland Mews and 
the National Service for Seafarers at St Paul’s Cathedral. 

  
19.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Thursday 13th October, he 

attended the Paddington Law Centre AGM at Emmanuel 
Church. 

  



 
 

 

4

20.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Friday 14th October, he 
visited Bond Street station, attended the ‘Scarf for Lewy’ 
event at the Royal Albert Hall and attended the Pearson 
College Lunch and Learn session in Holborn. 

  
21.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Sunday 16th October, he 

attended the Trafalgar Day Parade on Trafalgar Square and 
the London Mayors’ Association Civic Service at Westminster 
Abbey. 

  
22.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Monday 17th October, he 

attended the Art is Freedom exhibition at the National 
Gallery. 

  
23.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Tuesday 18th October, he 

attended the opening of the Manet and Eva Gonzales 
exhibition at the National Gallery and a performance of the 
Royal Ballet’s New Crystal Pite. 

  
24.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Wednesday 19th October, 

he met with the Lord Mayor of the City of London and 
attended a recital at the German Ambassador’s Residence 
on Belgrave Square. 

  
25.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Thursday 20th October he 

met with James Raynor from Grosvenor and attended the 
Young Westminster Five Years Young reception at the 
National Gallery. 

  
26.  The Lord Mayor to report that, on Monday 31 October, he 

attended an assembly at St Vincent’s Primary School, the 
Westminster Employment Service Job Fair at Lord’s and the 
Gibraltar Day Reception at the Shangri-La at The Shard. 

 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

5.   STATEMENT ON URGENT MATTERS  

 With the approval of the Chair of the meeting, the Leader of the 
Council may make a statement on an urgent matter and the 
Leader of the Opposition will have an equivalent right of reply. 
 

 

6.   PETITIONS AND DEPUTATIONS, IF ANY 
 

 

7.   QUESTIONS  



 
 

 

5

 The Lord Mayor will call Members who have indicated that they 
wish to ask a question after the Leader of the Opposition has 
asked her questions. 
 

 

8.   COUNCILLOR ISSUES  

 Councillor Sara Hassan - The Cost of Living Crisis: The 
Continuing Impact of the Crisis on Young People and Children 
  
Councillor Jacqui Wilkinson - Mismanagement of Silver Sunday 
 

 

9.   FUTURE POLICY PLAN (Pages 23 - 28) 

 To consider items for debate from the attached Future Policy 
Plan. 
  

 

10.   REPORT FOR FULL COUNCIL: THE COUNCIL'S NEW 
GAMBLING POLICY 

(Pages 29 - 52) 

 To receive, consider and debate, if chosen, the following report 
which contains a recommendation to the Council for approval and 
adoption. 
  
Cabinet Member Decision Report and Appendices 
 

 

11.   REPORTS OF THE GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE: 
REVIEW OF THE MEMBER/OFFICER PROTOCOL AND 
PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS 2023-24 

(Pages 53 - 54) 

 To receive, consider and debate, if chosen, the following reports 
which contain recommendations to the Council for approval and 
adoption. 
 
Member/Officer Protocol Report 
Appendix A 
 
Programme of Meetings 2023-24 Report 
 

 

12.   NOTICE OF MOTION  

 To be moved by Councillor Mark Shearer and seconded by 
Councillor David Harvey. 
  
This Council notes the increasing number of issues of anti-social 
behaviour (ASB) across Westminster. 
 
This Council understands the need to constantly review best 
practice.  However, there is a great deal of concern amongst 

 

https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1742
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s49226/GPCommittee%20-%20Member-Officer%20Protocol%20Report.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s49227/Appendix%20A%20-%20Protocol%20on%20Member%20Officer%20Relations.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s49228/Rpt%20Re%20Programme%20of%20Meetings%202023-2024.pdf


 
 

 

6

residents that the issues will not wait for a new strategy and need 
to be immediately addressed. 
 
This Council notes the time it takes for cases to come to more 
formal enforcement and urges that the timescales are 
accelerated so that the victims are respected and have more faith 
in the process.  
 
This Council calls upon the new administration to quickly address 
these issues in it’s proposed ASB Strategy that will provide 
confidence to the victims that their concerns are being 
addressed. 
 
This Council is concerned about the disbanding of the Integrated 
Street Engagement Unit (ISEU) that provided much needed co-
ordination and expertise to deal with significant issues that arise 
on our streets.     
 
This Council is very concerned about the major disruption to the 
city by the weeks of action by various groups such as Extinction 
Rebellion.  Whilst we all support peaceful protest this has to be 
done in a balanced way and in a way that allows people to get on 
with their daily working lives. 
 
This Council therefore resolves to: 

1       Maintain the resources that were in the ISEU. 
2       Press the Mayor of London to treat issues of ASB more 

seriously and to provide the necessary police resources to 
assist the Council in tackling these issues that if left 
unresolved will lead to more serious crime and disorder.  

3       Urge the Mayor of London to take a more proactive 
response in managing highly disruptive protests that cause 
serious disruption to the public.  

  
 
64 Victoria Street 
London, SW1E 6QP 
1 November 2022 

 

 Chief Executive 
 



 
1 

 

CITY OF WESTMINSTER 
 

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 
 

At the Meeting of the Council of the City of Westminster held at 1.00 pm on 
Saturday 17th September, 2022 at Westminster Council House, 97-113 Marylebone 

Road, London, NW1 5PT. 
 
 

PRESENT 
 

The Lord Mayor, Councillor Hamza Taouzzale 
 

COUNCILLORS 
 
Concia Albert 
Barbara Arzymanow 
Geoff Barraclough 
Liza Begum 
David Boothroyd 
Ruth Bush 
Nafsika Butler-Thalassis 
Melvyn Caplan 
Maggie Carman 
Md Shamsed Chowdhury 
Lorraine Dean 
Tony Devenish 
Paul Dimoldenberg 
Laila Dupuy 
Robert Eagleton 
Paul Fisher 
Ed Pitt Ford 
Jim Glen 
David Harvey 
Elizabeth Hitchcock 
Adam Hug 
Ryan Jude 
 

Aicha Less 
Iman Less 
Patrick Lilley 
Patricia McAllister 
Tim Mitchell 
Matt Noble 
Ralu Oteh-Osoka 
Angela Piddock 
Robert Rigby 
Rachael Robathan 
Tim Roca 
Ian Rowley 
Cara Sanquest 
Karen Scarborough 
Selina Short 
James Small-Edwards 
Judith Southern 
Paul Swaddle OBE 
Jessica Toale 
Jacqui Wilkinson 
Jason Williams 
 

APOLOGIES: Councillors Gillian Arrindell, Sara Hassan, Louise Hyams, Amanda 
Langford, Alan Mendoza, Ellie Ormsby, Caroline Sargent, Mark Shearer, Max 
Sullivan and Aziz Toki 
 
1 APPOINTMENT OF RELIEF CHAIRMAN 
 
1.1 Motion moved by the Lord Mayor and seconded by Councillor Matt Noble, that 

Councillor Jessica Toale be elected as Relief Chair.  
 
1.2  Motion put, and on a show of hands, declared CARRIED. 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 
2 

 

2 THOUGHTS AND REFLECTIONS FOLLOWING THE PASSING OF HER 
MAJESTY QUEEN ELIZABETH II 

 
2.1 The Chair invited the Council to join him in observing a minutes silence in 

memory of Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth the Second. 
 
2.2  The Lord Mayor invited Councillors to offer their thoughts and reflections 

following the passing of Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth the Second. A notice of 
motion was moved by Councillor Adam Hug and seconded by Councillor 
Rachael Robathan.  

 
2.3 The following Councillors spoke on the motion: 
 

Councillor Ruth Bush; and 
Councillor David Harvey 

 
2.4  The Lord Mayor then put the motion to the vote and following a show of hands 

declared the motion CARRIED. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the Council pass a vote of thanks to Her Majesty the Queen for her 
devoted and tireless service, recognising the unique link between the royal 
household and the City of Westminster, and also that the Council send its 
sincerest condolences to King Charles III and his family for their loss. 

 
 
 
 
 
The Meeting ended at 1.51 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN:   DATE  

 

Page 8



 
1 

 

CITY OF WESTMINSTER 
 

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 
 

At the Meeting of the Council of the City of Westminster held at 7.00 pm on 
Wednesday 21st September, 2022 at Westminster Council House, 97-113 

Marylebone Road, London, NW1 5PT. 
 
 

PRESENT 
 

The Lord Mayor, Councillor Hamza Taouzzale 
 

COUNCILLORS 
 
Barbara Arzymanow 
Concia Albert  
Gillian Arrindell 
Geoff Barraclough  
Liza Begum  
David Boothroyd  
Ruth Bush  
Nafsika Butler-Thalassis  
Melvyn Caplan  
Maggie Carman  
Md Shamsed Chowdhury  
Lorraine Dean  
Tony Devenish  
Paul Dimoldenberg  
Laila Dupuy  
Robert Eagleton  
Paul Fisher  
Ed Pitt Ford  
Jim Glen  
David Harvey  
Elizabeth Hitchcock 
Adam Hug  
Louise Hyams  
Ryan Jude  
Amanda Langford 
 

Aicha Less 
Patrick Lilley  
Patricia McAllister  
Alan Mendoza  
Tim Mitchell  
Matt Noble  
Ellie Ormsby  
Ralu Oteh-Osoka  
Angela Piddock  
Robert Rigby  
Rachael Robathan  
Tim Roca  
Ian Rowley  
Cara Sanquest  
Caroline Sargent  
Karen Scarborough  
Mark Shearer  
Selina Short  
James Small-Edwards  
Judith Southern  
Max Sullivan  
Paul Swaddle OBE 
Jessica Toale 
Aziz Toki  
Jason Williams 
Jacqui Wilkinson 
 

APOLOGIES: Councillors Sara Hassan and Iman Less 
 
 
1 APPOINTMENT OF RELIEF CHAIR 
 
1.1 Motion moved by the Lord Mayor and seconded by Councillor Matt Noble, that 

Councillor Cara Sanquest be elected as Relief Chair.  
 

1.2 Motion put, and on a show of hands, declared CARRIED. 

Page 9



 
2 

 

 
 
2 MINUTES 
 
2.1  The minutes of the proceedings at the Council meeting held on Wednesday 

22 June 2022 were, with the assent of the Members present, signed by the 
Lord Mayor as a true record of the proceedings. 

 
 
3 LORD MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS 
 
3.1  The Lord Mayor referred to these as set out on the agenda. 
 
3.2 The Lord Mayor invited two Youth MPs, Kaden Pradhan and James Balloqui, 

to address the meeting on the work of the Youth Council and their priorities for 
the year. 

 
 
4 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
4.1  There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
5 STATEMENT ON URGENT MATTERS 
 
5.1  There were no urgent matters. 
 
 
6 PETITIONS AND DEPUTATIONS, IF ANY 
 
6.1  There were no petitions or deputations received. 
 
 
7 QUESTIONS 
 
7.1  The questions, supplementary questions and replies are included as a 

recording on the Council’s website. 
 
 
8 COUNCILLOR ISSUES 
 
8.1  Tackling the Drug Problem 
 

Councillor Maggie Carman spoke and Councillor Aicha Less replied.  
 
Housing Major Works in Little Venice Ward 
 
Councillor Melvyn Caplan spoke and Councillor Liza Begum replied. 

 
 
 

Page 10



 
3 

 

 
9 FUTURE POLICY PLAN 
 
9.1 No items were selected for debate. 
 
 
10 REPORT FOR FULL COUNCIL: APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT 

PERSON TO THE AUDIT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 
10.1  RESOLVED: 
 

1)  That the appointment of an independent person to sit on the Audit and 
Performance Committee for a period of four years be approved;  

 
2)  That authority to finalise the role description, skills, competencies and 

person specification attached as Appendix A be delegated to the 
Director of Law, in consultation with the Chair of the Audit and 
Performance Committee/General Purposes Committee. 

 
3)  That approval for the recruitment of the Independent Member be led by 

a panel consisting of the Chair of the Audit and Performance 
Committee, the Chair of the General Purposes Committee and a 
nominated Opposition Group member. The panel would be advised by 
the Director of Law, Director of Finance and Head of Governance and 
Councillor Liaison. 

 
4)  That the Members’ Allowances Scheme be amended to provide a 

remuneration of £2,500 per annum to the Audit and Performance 
Committee Independent Member. 

 
11 REPORT FOR FULL COUNCIL: MEMBERSHIP OF THE WESTMINSTER 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
 
11.1 RESOLVED 
 

That the size of the Westminster Scrutiny Commission be amended from 5 
members to 7 members. 

 
 
12 REPORT FOR FULL COUNCIL: TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 

STATEMENT (TMSS) AMENDMENT 
 
12.1 RESOLVED: 
 

That an amendment to the Council’s borrowing strategy, allowing greater 
flexibility in the range of financing options available, be approved. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



 
4 

 

13 NOTICES OF MOTION 
 

Motion 13a - Dirty Money 
 
13.1  The Majority Party had selected for debate the notice of motion as set out on 

the agenda. The notice of motion was moved by Councillor Adam Hug and 
seconded by Councillor Ellie Ormsby.  

 
13.2  Councillor Paul Swaddle moved and it was seconded by Councillor Ian 

Rowley that the notice of motion be amended, as follows: 
 

1. Westminster City Council is bringing forward a new commitment to 
tackle dirty money and poor tax conduct, as part of our work to tackle 
the ill-effects of dirty money on Westminster residents, and nationally 
on legitimate businesses and communities across the United Kingdom. 
We want to create a more equitable economy in Westminster, which 
puts our residents and communities first. 

 
2. The pressure on organisations to pay their fair share of tax has never 

been stronger. With the cost-of-living crisis impacting the most 
vulnerable in our society, it is only right that the council takes the lead 
in the promotion of exemplary tax conduct and supports those 
businesses who pay their fair share of tax - contributing to the vital 
funding front-line services need. 

 
3. Two thirds of people (66%) believe the Government and local councils 

should at least consider a company’s ethics and how they pay their tax, 
as well as value for money and quality of service provided, when 
awarding contracts to companies; despite this around 17.5% of public 
contracts in the UK have been won by companies with links to tax 
havens. 

 
4. 1. The council is currently investigating unpaid business rates of £7.9m 

from 30 shops on Oxford Street and continues to pursue these taxes, 
and is working to enforce against those candy stores and other tenants 
who are failing to fulfil their legal obligations. Failing to contribute fairly 
is an extremely broad issue that directly impacts funding for vital public 
services, for example it has been conservatively estimated that losses 
from multinational profit-shifting (just one form of tax avoidance) could 
be costing the UK £17bn per annum in lost corporation tax revenues. 

 
5. The Centre for Public data has uncovered that within Westminster there 

has been a 300% rise in the number of properties registered to owners 
in Jersey since 2010, and a rise of 1,200% in the number of properties 
registered to owners in Russia. Westminster had 12,104 registered 
titles owned by individuals based overseas - 9% of all its registered 
titles, more than any other local authority. This number has trebled 
since 2010. We are proud of the diverse resident population of 
Westminster, but this data suggests something troubling, that the use 
of Westminster as a location to hide ill-gotten gains in the property 
market is spiralling out of control. 

Page 12



 
5 

 

 
6. The use of Westminster property to legitimise illicit gains inflates 

property prices, reduces housing options for residents and diminishes 
the status of Westminster as a place to do business. We will tackle this 
head on and call on our partners to do all they can to end these harmful 
practices, leading the way with a new Westminster Against Dirty Money 
Strategy. 

 
7. This starts with adopting the Fair Tax Mark offers a means for business 

to demonstrate good tax conduct and has been secured by a wide 
range of businesses across the UK, including FTSE-listed PLCs, co-
operatives, social enterprises and large private businesses. 

 
 

8. 2. These organisations are often a front for money laundering for 
Serious Organised Crime, and also frequently have out of date stock 
and illegal goods. 

 
3. The work done under the previous administration to start tackling this 
issue and welcomes that new administration taking up this campaign. 

 
This Council believes that: 

 
1.  Paying tax is often presented as a burden, but it shouldn’t be. 

 
2.  Tax enables us to provide services from education, health and social 

care, to flood defence, roads, policing and defence. It also helps to 
counter financial inequalities and rebalance distortions in the economy. 

 
3.  As recipients of significant public funding, local authorities should take 

the lead in the promotion of exemplary tax conduct; be that by ensuring 
contractors are paying their proper share of tax, or by refusing to go 
along with offshore tax dodging when buying land and property. 

 
4.  Where councils hold substantive stakes in private enterprises, 

influence should be wielded to ensure that such businesses are 
exemplars of tax transparency and tax avoidance is shunned. 

 
5.  More action is needed, however, as current and proposed new UK 

procurement law significantly restricts councils’ ability to either penalise 
poor tax conduct (as exclusion grounds are rarely triggered) or reward 
good tax conduct, when buying goods or services. 

 
1.  UK cities, counties and towns can and should stand up for responsible 

tax conduct - doing what they can within existing frameworks and 
pledging to do more given the opportunity, as active supporters of 
international tax justice. We should also celebrate the tax contribution 
made by responsible businesses and promote responsible tax conduct. 

 
This Council resolves to: 
 

Page 13



 
6 

 

1.  Approve the Councils for Fair Tax Declaration, as a key step to lead by 
example and demonstrate good practice in our tax conduct, right 
across our activities – and promote Fair Tax Mark certification with our 
partners. 

 
2.  Ensure the fair payment of taxes, business rates and employment 

taxes through robust implementation of IR35, not using offshore 
vehicles for land or property purchase and undertaking due diligence to 
ensure suppliers are not inappropriately utilising not-for-profit 
structures. 

3.  Ensure the effective implementation of the beneficial ownership registry 
- legislated for in the Economic Crime Act - in collaboration with our 
partners, and ensure suppliers are fulfilling these obligations. 

 
4.  Work with our partners to deliver a co-created campaign for further 

action through developing a Westminster Against Dirty Money charter; 
improving our data sharing to ensure the highest possible levels of 
transparency and enforcement.; and calling on Her Majesty’s 
Government to ensure the speedy delivery of a second Economic 
Crime Bill, with substantive reform of Companies House practices and 
tightening of UK procurement law. 

 
13.3 Following debate, The Lord Mayor put the amendment to the motion to the 

vote and following a show of hands declared the amendment to the motion 
LOST. 

 
13.4 The Lord Mayor then put the substantive motion to the vote and following a 

show of hands declared the substantive motion CARRIED. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
 This Council notes that:  
 

1.  Westminster City Council is bringing forward a new commitment to 
tackle dirty money and poor tax conduct, as part of our work to tackle 
the ill-effects of dirty money on Westminster residents, and nationally 
on legitimate businesses and communities across the United Kingdom. 
We want to create a more equitable economy in Westminster, which 
puts our residents and communities first.  

 
2.  The pressure on organisations to pay their fair share of tax has never 

been stronger. With the cost-of-living crisis impacting the most 
vulnerable in our society, it is only right that the council takes the lead 
in the promotion of exemplary tax conduct and supports those 
businesses who pay their fair share of tax - contributing to the vital 
funding front-line services need.  

 
3.  Two thirds of people (66%) believe the Government and local councils 

should at least consider a company’s ethics and how they pay their tax, 
as well as value for money and quality of service provided, when 
awarding contracts to companies; despite this around 17.5% of public 

Page 14



 
7 

 

contracts in the UK have been won by companies with links to tax 
havens.  

 
4.  The council is currently investigating unpaid business rates of £7.9m 

from 30 shops on Oxford Street and continues to pursue these taxes, 
and is working to enforce against those candy stores and other tenants 
who are failing to fulfil their legal obligations. Failing to contribute fairly 
is an extremely broad issue that directly impacts funding for vital public 
services, for example it has been conservatively estimated that losses 
from multinational profit-shifting (just one form of tax avoidance) could 
be costing the UK £17bn per annum in lost corporation tax revenues.  

 
5.  The Centre for Public data has uncovered that within Westminster 

there has been a 300% rise in the number of properties registered to 
owners in Jersey since 2010, and a rise of 1,200% in the number of 
properties registered to owners in Russia. Westminster had 12,104 
registered titles owned by individuals based overseas - 9% of all its 
registered titles, more than any other local authority. This number has 
trebled since 2010. We are proud of the diverse resident population of 
Westminster, but this data suggests something troubling, that the use 
of Westminster as a location to hide illgotten gains in the property 
market is spiralling out of control.  

 
6.  The use of Westminster property to legitimise illicit gains inflates 

property prices, reduces housing options for residents and diminishes 
the status of Westminster as a place to do business. We will tackle this 
head on and call on our partners to do all they can to end these 
harmful practices, leading the way with a new Westminster Against 
Dirty Money Strategy.  

 
7.  This starts with adopting the Fair Tax Mark as it offers a means for 

business to demonstrate good tax conduct and has been secured by a 
wide range of businesses across the UK, including FTSE-listed PLCs, 
co-operatives, social enterprises and large private businesses.  

 
This Council believes that:  
 
1.  Paying tax is often presented as a burden, but it shouldn’t be.  
 
2.  Tax enables us to provide services from education, health and social 

care, to flood defence, roads, policing and defence. It also helps to 
counter financial inequalities and rebalance distortions in the economy. 

 
3.  As recipients of significant public funding, local authorities should take 

the lead in the promotion of exemplary tax conduct; be that by ensuring 
contractors are paying their proper share of tax, or by refusing to go 
along with offshore tax dodging when buying land and property.  

 
4.  Where councils hold substantive stakes in private enterprises, 

influence should be wielded to ensure that such businesses are 
exemplars of tax transparency and tax avoidance is shunned.  

Page 15



 
8 

 

 
5.  More action is needed, however, as current and proposed new UK 

procurement law significantly restricts councils’ ability to either penalise 
poor tax conduct (as exclusion grounds are rarely triggered) or reward 
good tax conduct, when buying goods or services.  

 
6.  UK cities, counties and towns can and should stand up for responsible 

tax conduct - doing what they can within existing frameworks and 
pledging to do more given the opportunity, as active supporters of 
international tax justice. We should also celebrate the tax contribution 
made by responsible businesses and promote responsible tax conduct. 

 
This Council resolves to:  
 
1.  Approve the Councils for Fair Tax Declaration, as a key step to lead by 

example and demonstrate good practice in our tax conduct, right 
across our activities – and promote Fair Tax Mark certification with our 
partners.  

 
2.  Ensure the fair payment of taxes, business rates and employment 

taxes through robust implementation of IR35, not using offshore 
vehicles for land or property purchase and undertaking due diligence to 
ensure suppliers are not inappropriately utilising not-for-profit 
structures.  

 
3.  Ensure the effective implementation of the beneficial ownership registry 

- legislated for in the Economic Crime Act - in collaboration with our 
partners, and ensure suppliers are fulfilling these obligations.  

 
4.  Work with our partners to deliver a co-created campaign for further 

action through: developing a Westminster Against Dirty Money charter; 
improving our data sharing to ensure the highest possible levels of 
transparency; and calling on Her Majesty’s Government to ensure the 
speedy delivery of a second Economic Crime Bill, with substantive 
reform of Companies House practices and tightening of UK 
procurement law. 

 
Motions 13b & c (Joint Debate) - Cost of Living Emergency 
 

13.5  The Majority and Opposition Parties had selected for a joint debate the notice 
of motions as set out on the agenda.  

 
13.6 Councillor Tim Roca moved the Majority Party motion 13b and it was 

seconded by Councillor Nafsika Butler-Thalassis.  
 
13.7 Councillor David Harvey moved and it was seconded by Councillor Alan 

Mendoza that motion 13b be amended, as follows: 
 
 
 

Page 16



 
9 

 

 This Council notes that: 

• On 26 August, Ofgem announced that the energy price cap will rise by around 
80% nationally from £1,971 to £3,549 per year (based on the average national 
household with typical consumption on a dual electricity and gas bill, paying 
by direct debit). Without further intervention, customers who pay by cash, 
cheque or quarterly direct debit will pay an additional £215 (7% higher) and 
prepayment meter customers will pay an additional £59 (2% higher) 
compared to those on direct debit. 

 
• An imminent jump in energy costs this winter, colliding with temperatures 

falling and energy use increasing, will have devastating impacts on low-to-
middle income households across Westminster. Around 31,000 households 
(24%) in receipt of government benefits are particularly exposed to rises in the 
cost-of-living and around 11,000 of these households could be in fuel poverty 
and in particularly acute distress, given the rise in price. 

 
• A cold home substantially increases the risk of serious illness for vulnerable 

people. The Royal College of Psychiatrists has reported that the cost-of-living 
crisis “poses a threat of pandemic proportions” to the nation’s mental health. 

• This Council has targeted an initial £5.6m package, including £4m of 
Government grants, of support to help families in Westminster that are 
struggling with the rising cost of living. The Council has also published a Cost 
of Living Strategy which sets out the actions we are taking to: 

a) Support the most vulnerable members of our society 

b) Help our residents to manage and pay their bills 

c) Support residents with energy efficiency measures, which encourage 
greener lifestyles and lower bills 

d) Make sure everyone gets the benefits they are entitled to receive 

e) Help residents with debt and financial advice 

f) Maximise the impact we’re having by coordinating our efforts with our 
partners 

This Council believes that the scale of the challenge needs urgent and 
substantial action from the Council, Central Government, and others with the 
ability to help. 

This Council, therefore, resolves to declare a ‘Cost of Living Emergency’. 

In addition, this Council resolves to deliver a robust approach to support our 
communities – particularly the most vulnerable – through the autumn and 
winter. This will include: 
 

Page 17



 
10 

 

• Identifying further resources within the council that can support the delivery of 
the Cost of Living Strategy. 

 
• Working with partners to deliver a network of warm places that provide 

opportunities for activities and engagement as well as heat. 
 

• Finding suitable opportunities for Westminster Connects and local volunteers 
to help people access support. 

 
• Lobbying Government for additional targeted funding. 
• Engaging further with major business and institutional stakeholders to work 

with us to find further ways to assist those most in need. 
 

The work of alleviating the Cost of Living crisis is not the Council’s alone. 
Therefore, this Council calls on the Government to: 
 
• Freeze energy bills, and cut VAT on energy bills, to give support and certainty 

to vulnerable residents. 
 

• Start providing dedicated funding for free school meals vouchers during the 
school holidays. 

 
• Invest more funding for insulating homes, to save money on energy bills now 

and in the longer term. 
 

• Provide a lifeline to local businesses and high streets, and the people they 
employ, by fundamentally reforming business rates and providing further 
support to small businesses. 

 
• Ensure that energy producers who are receiving record profits due to the 

spike in oil and gas prices pay their fair share of the cost of any emergency 
measures through a windfall tax or other targeted measures rather than 
placing the cost purely on taxpayers or future bill payers. 

 
13.7 Following debate, The Lord Mayor put the amendment to the motion to the 

vote and following a show of hands declared the amendment to the motion 
LOST. 

 
13.8 The Lord Mayor then put the substantive motion as amended to the vote and 

following a show of hands declared the substantive motion as amended 
CARRIED. 

 
 RESOLVED: 
 
 This Council notes that:  
 

•  On 26 August, Ofgem announced that the energy price cap will rise by 
around 80% nationally from £1,971 to £3,549 per year (based on the 
average national household with typical consumption on a dual 
electricity and gas bill, paying by direct debit). Without further 

Page 18



 
11 

 

intervention, customers who pay by cash, cheque or quarterly direct 
debit will pay an additional £215 (7% higher) and prepayment meter 
customers will pay an additional £59 (2% higher) compared to those on 
direct debit.  

 
•  An imminent jump in energy costs this winter, colliding with 

temperatures falling and energy use increasing, will have devastating 
impacts on low-to-middle income households across Westminster. 
Around 31,000 households (24%) in receipt of government benefits are 
particularly exposed to rises in the cost-of-living and around 11,000 of 
these households could be in fuel poverty and in particularly acute 
distress, given the rise in price.  

 
•  A cold home substantially increases the risk of serious illness for 

vulnerable people. The Royal College of Psychiatrists has reported that 
the cost-of-living crisis “poses a threat of pandemic proportions” to the 
nation’s mental health.  

 
•  This Council has targeted an initial £5.6m package of support to help 

families in Westminster that are struggling with the rising cost of living. 
The Council has also published a Cost of Living Strategy which sets 
out the actions we are taking to:  

 
a)  Support the most vulnerable members of our society  
 
b)  Help our residents to manage and pay their bills  
 
c)  Support residents with energy efficiency measures, which 

encourage greener lifestyles and lower bills  
 
d)  Make sure everyone gets the benefits they are entitled to 

receive  
 
e)  Help residents with debt and financial advice  
 
f)  Maximise the impact we’re having by coordinating our efforts 

with our partners.  
 

This Council believes that the scale of the challenge needs urgent and 
substantial action from the Council, Central Government, and others with the 
ability to help.  
 
This Council, therefore, resolves to declare a ‘Cost of Living Emergency’.  
 
In addition, this Council resolves to deliver a robust approach to support our 
communities – particularly the most vulnerable – through the autumn and 
winter. This will include:  
 
•  Identifying further resources within the council that can support the 

delivery of the Cost of Living Strategy  
 

Page 19



 
12 

 

•  Working with partners to deliver a network of warm places that provide 
opportunities for activities and engagement as well as heat.  

 
•  Finding suitable opportunities for Westminster Connects and local 

volunteers to help people access support  
 
•  Engaging further with major business and institutional stakeholders to 

work with us to find further ways to assist those most in need.  
 
• The work of alleviating the Cost of Living crisis is not the Council’s 

alone. Therefore, this Council calls on the Government to:  
 
•  Freeze energy bills, and cut VAT on energy bills, to give support and 

certainty to vulnerable residents. 
 
•  Start providing dedicated funding for free school meals vouchers during 

the school holidays  
 
•  Invest more funding for insulating homes, to save money on energy 

bills now and in the longer term  
 
•  Provide a lifeline to local businesses and high streets, and the people 

they employ, by fundamentally reforming business rates and providing 
further support to small businesses.  

 
•  Ensure that energy producers who are receiving record profits due to 

the spike in oil and gas prices pay their fair share of the cost of any 
emergency measures through a windfall tax or other targeted 
measures rather than placing the cost purely on taxpayers or future bill 
payers. 

 
13.9 Councillor David Harvey moved the Opposition Party motion 13c and it was 

seconded by Councillor Alan Mendoza.  
 
13.10 Councillor Robert Eagleton moved and it was seconded by Councillor Concia 

Albert that motion 13c be amended, as follows: 
 

As it did during the Covid-19 pandemic, this Council has a long-term history of 
non-partisan support for our residents and for the small businesses that are a 
key part of our local economy. 
 
This Council commits now to support residents and SMEs alike through the 
forthcoming winter with the challenges of energy and food poverty so that our 
people and businesses survive in the short-term and thrive in the medium-
term. 
 
This Council reassures the City of Westminster that because of the way the 
supply is negotiated, Wwhere the Council is the energy supplier for communal 
heating and residents do not benefit from national schemes, there will be no it 

Page 20



 
13 

 

undertakes to protect residents and SMEs from energy price rises by not 
increasing above September 2022 prices during the coming winter. 

 
13.11 Following debate, The Lord Mayor put the amendment to the motion to the 

vote and following a show of hands declared the amendment to the motion 
CARRIED. 

 
13.12 The Lord Mayor then put the substantive motion as amended to the vote and 

following a show of hands declared the substantive motion as amended 
CARRIED. 

 
 
The Meeting ended at 9.40pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN:   DATE  

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



City of Westminster 
 

Council Meeting 
 

Wednesday 9 November 2022 
 

Future Policy Plan 
 

No. Subject Cabinet Member Portfolios Lead Officer 

1 Addressing Dementia Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector Bernie Flaherty 

2 Adult Education Young People, Learning and Leisure Debbie Jackson   

3 Affordable Business Space Planning and Economic Development Debbie Jackson    

4 Affordable Childcare Young People, Learning and Leisure Sarah Newman 

5 Affordable Housing Housing Services 
Climate Action, Regeneration and Renters  

Debbie Jackson 
  

6 Air Quality City Management and Air Quality 
 

Raj Mistry  

7 Alternative Education Young People, Learning and Leisure Sarah Newman  

8 Anti-social Behaviour Communities and Public Protection 
Housing Services  

Raj Mistry  

9 Apprenticeships Young People, Learning and Leisure Debbie Jackson  
10 Assets of Community Value Planning and Economic Development Debbie Jackson 

 

11 Benefits administration  Finance and Council Reform Gerald Almeroth  

12 BIDS Planning and Economic Development Debbie Jackson  

13 Business Rates  Finance and Council Reform 
  

Gerald Almeroth  

14 Capital Programme Finance and Council Reform Gerald Almeroth  

15 Care Act Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector Bernie Flaherty 

16 CCTV City Management and Air Quality 
Communities and Public Protection 
  

Raj Mistry  

17 Child poverty Young People, Learning and Leisure 
Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector 

Sarah Newman 
Bernie Flaherty 

18 Child Protection Young People, Learning and Leisure 
 

Sarah Newman 

19 Childhood Obesity Young People, Learning and Leisure 
Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector 

Sarah Newman 
Bernie Flaherty  

 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



20 Strategic Vision Leader of the Council Stuart Love 

21 Combating Long Term 
Unemployment 

Planning and Economic Development Debbie Jackson 

22 COVID-19 response and 
city renewal 
 

Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector Bernie Flaherty 

23 Clinical Commissioning 
Groups  

Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector  Bernie Flaherty 

24 Climate Emergency Climate Action, Regeneration and Renters Raj Mistry 

25 Commercial Opportunities Finance and Council Reform Gerald Almeroth  

26 Community Cohesion  Communities and Public Protection 
 
 

Pedro Wrobel 
 

27 Community Engagement Communities and Public Protection 
Planning and Economic Development (Neighbourhood 
Forums/ Amenity Societies)  

Pedro Wrobel 
Debbie Jackson 

28 Community Infrastructure 
Levy 

Planning and Economic Development Pedro Wrobel 
Debbie Jackson 
 

29 Corporate Parenting Young People, Learning and Leisure  Sarah Newman 

30 Council Budget & Financial 
Management 

Finance and Council Reform Gerald Almeroth  

31 Council Management  Leader of the Council  Stuart Love  

32 Council Tax  Finance and Council Reform Stuart Love 
Gerald Almeroth  

33 Counter-terrorism Communities and Public Protection  Stuart Love  
Raj Mistry 

34 Crossrail 1and 2 City Management and Air Quality Debbie Jackson 

35 Customer Services  Finance and Council Reform Gerald Almeroth 
  

36 Cycling City Management and Air Quality Raj Mistry 
Debbie Jackson  

37 Debt Management Finance and Council Reform Gerald Almeroth  

38 Devolution Leader of the Council Stuart Love  

39 Encouraging social 
enterprise 

Planning and Economic Development Debbie Jackson 
  

40 Equalities Communities and Public Protection  Stuart Love 
Lee Witham  

41 Family Recovery / Troubled 
Families 

Young People, Learning and Leisure  Sarah Newman 

42 Fostering and Adoption  Young People, Learning and Leisure  Sarah Newman 

Page 24



43 Education  Young People, Learning and Leisure  Sarah Newman 

44 Freedom Pass Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector  Bernie Flaherty  
45 Gangs & Youth Violence Young People, Learning and Leisure 

Communities and Public Protection 
  

Sarah Newman 
Raj Mistry  

46 GP Quality & Performance  Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector Bernie Flaherty 
47 Green Spaces & Parks    City Management and Air Quality Raj Mistry  
48 Growth and Economic 

Development  
 

Planning and Economic Development Debbie Jackson 
 

49 Public Health Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector Bernie Flaherty 
50 Healthwatch Westminster Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector  Bernie Flaherty 
51 Homelessness / Rough 

Sleeping 
Housing Services Raj Mistry 

Debbie Jackson 
 
 

52 Housing Revenue Account Housing Services 
Finance and Council Reform 

Debbie Jackson 
Gerald Almeroth  

53 Housing Strategy & 
Housing Renewal 
 

Climate Action, Regeneration and Renters Debbie Jackson 

54 Housing Service Housing Services Debbie Jackson 
 

55 Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy and the 
Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (STP)  

Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector Stuart Love 
Bernie Flaherty  

56 Digital Strategy Finance and Council Reform Gerald Almeroth 
 

57 Information Technology 
Strategy 

Finance and Council Reform Gerald Almeroth 
 

58 Integrated Business Centre 
 
 

Finance and Council Reform Gerald Almeroth 
 

59 Legal Services Finance and Council Reform Parveen Akhtar 

60 Libraries Young People, Learning and Leisure  Sarah Newman 

61 Licensing Communities and Public Protection  Raj Mistry 

62 Local Government Finance  Finance and Council Reform Gerald Almeroth  
63 London Plan Planning and Economic Development Pedro Wrobel  

Debbie Jackson  

64 Protests & demonstrations  Leader of the Council 
Communities and Public Protection 
City Management and Air Quality  

Raj Mistry 

65 Managing the public realm Planning and Economic Development 
City Management and Air Quality 

Debbie Jackson 
Raj Mistry  

66 Utility Companies City Management and Air Quality Raj Mistry 

Page 25



67 Mayor of London & London 
Governance 

Leader of the Council  Stuart Love  

68 Natural Environment  Climate Action, Regeneration and Renters Raj Mistry  

69 Neighbourhood Forums Planning and Economic Development  Pedro Wrobel   

70 Ward budgets Communities and Public Protection  Richard Cressey 
  

71 Overcrowding (Housing) Housing Services Debbie Jackson  

72 Parking services and 
enforcement 

City Management and Air Quality Raj Mistry 

73 Development Planning Planning and Economic Development Debbie Jackson 

74 Policing Communities and Public Protection  Raj Mistry 

75 Policy and Scrutiny  Leader of the Council  Richard Cressey  

76 Preventing Re-offending  Communities and Public Protection  Raj Mistry  

77 Procurement Finance and Council Reform Gerald Almeroth  

78 Corporate Property Finance and Council Reform Gerald Almeroth  

79 Tenancy Agreements 
(residential)  

Climate Action, Regeneration and Renters Debbie Jackson   

80 Public Conveniences City Management and Air Quality Raj Mistry 

81 Queens Park Community 
Council 

Finance and Council Reform  Gerald Almeroth  

82 Royal Parks  Leader of the Council Raj Mistry 
Debbie Jackson    

83 School Meals Young People, Learning and Leisure 
 

Sarah Newman 

84 School Nursing Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector  
Young People, Learning and Leisure 
 

Bernie Flaherty 
Sarah Newman 

85 Sexual Health Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector  Bernie Flaherty 

86 Short Term Lets Climate Action, Regeneration and Renters  Raj Mistry  

87 City Promotions, Events 
and Filming 

Leader of the Council  Pedro Wrobel   

88 Special Needs Provision  Young People, Learning and Leisure  Sarah Newman 
  

89 Specialist Housing Strategy 
for Older People 

Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector  
Housing Services  

Bernie Flaherty 
Debbie Jackson  

90 Sports & leisure services Young People, Learning and Leisure  Raj Mistry 

91 Staffing Leader of the Council Stuart Love 
Lee Witham 

92 Street Entertainment Communities and Public Protection 
Planning and Economic Development  

Raj Mistry  

Page 26



93 Street Management Communities and Public Protection  
Raj Mistry 

94 Substance misuse Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector  
  

Bernie Flaherty  

95 Support for small 
businesses 

Planning and Economic Development  Debbie Jackson   
  

96 Supporting carers Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector  
  

Sarah Newman 
Bernie Flaherty  

97 City Plan Planning and Economic Development  Pedro Wrobel  
Debbie Jackson 

98 Transport for London City Management and Air Quality Raj Mistry   

99 Bi-borough Leader of the Council   Stuart Love  

100 Violence Against Women & 
Girls 

Communities and Public Protection 
Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector  
 

Raj Mistry  
Bernie Flaherty  

101 Voluntary sector and 
community support, inc 
Westminster Connects 

Adult Social Care, Public Health and Voluntary Sector  
Communities and Public Protection 
 

Bernie Flaherty 
Pedro Wrobel 

102 West End Partnership Planning and Economic Development Stuart Love 

103 Oxford Street District Planning and Economic Development Debbie Jackson 

104 Emergency Planning Leader of the Council Raj Mistry 

105 City Management City Management and Air Quality Raj Mistry 

106 Environment Climate Action, Regeneration and Renters Raj Mistry 
 

107 Refugee Resettlement Communities and Public Protection 
 

Raj Mistry 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Council Report  

Meeting or Decision Maker: Full Council 

Date: 9 November 2022 

Classification: General Release  

Title: The Council’s New Gambling Policy 

Wards Affected: All Wards 

Report of Cabinet Member for Communities and 
Public Protection 

Fairer Westminster: Fairer Communities and Fairer Economy 

Key Decision: No 

Financial Summary: There are no financial impacts associated 
with this report 

Report Author and Contact 
Details  

Kerry Simpkin, Head of Licensing, Place 
and Investment Policy.   

Email: ksimpkin@westminster.gov.uk 

 
1. Executive Summary 

1.1 The Licensing Authority’s statutory consultation on the proposed New 
Gambling Policy ran for 9 weeks between 27 September 2021 and 28 
November 2021. The Licensing Authority received 12 responses from a total 
of 25 organisations (including some joint responses).  These organisations 
were: 

• 12 Operators 
• 8 Business Improvement Districts 
• 3 representative organisations 
• 1 Amenity Society 
• 1 other organisation (Citizen’s Advice Bureau) 

 
1.2 The consultation covered the Licensing Authority’s proposals to introduce new 

Gambling Policy that set out the Council’s approach and expectations on the 
consideration and determination of gambling applications under the Gambling 

Page 29

Agenda Item 10

mailto:ksimpkin@westminster.gov.uk


Act 2005.  At the time the Council also consulted on the ancillary Local Area 
Profile, which analyses potential vulnerabilities and vulnerable locations to 
gambling related harm in Westminster.  

 
1.3 Following an assessment of responses, officers have set out the Licensing 

Authority’s approach to each of the points raised by the respondents. The 
Licensing Authority’s position is set out within this report and is summarised in 
Appendix 2.  

 
1.4 On the 27 October 2022 the Cabinet Member for Communities and Public 

Protection approved the draft policy and has recommended it to Full Council 
for adoption so that it can come into force from the 12 December 2022.   

 
2. Recommendations 

2.1 That the Council, in line with the recommendation from the Cabinet Member 
for Communities and Public Protection adopt the new Gambling Policy, 
attached to this report as Appendix 1 in accordance with section 349 of the 
Gambling Act 2005 (the Act) and agree that it will come into effect on the 12 
December 2022. 

3. Background 
  
3.1 In December 2021 the Council published an updated Gambling Policy to 

apply when exercising its functions under the Gambling Act 2005.  This policy 
was an updated version of the policy already in place which expired on 30th 
January 2022 and was intended to act as a temporary measure to ensure that 
the Licensing Authority met its statutory obligations whilst allowing for a longer 
period of consultation and engagement on this new policy. 

 
3.2 The Council proposed to extend its existing Gambling Policy beyond the 3-

year statutory period until such time as this new Gambling Policy was 
adopted.     

 
3.3 The proposed new policy is a significant enhancement on the current policy.  

This policy establishes a new policy framework which will set out the Council’s 
approach to considering and determining applications under the Act.  The new 
policy is based on a similar approach that is taken under the Licensing Act 
2003.  This policy is focused on the licensing objectives, hours, spatial and 
then premises use or other permission policies.  Within these sections there 
are numerous smaller but specific policy approaches.   

 
3.4 The new policy is a significant departure from the previous version.  It 

includes more information on the approach that the Council will have when 
considering and determining gambling applications or approvals within 
Westminster.  The policy has increased from 60 pages to over 300.  The level 
of information and detail within the new policy is a culmination of the 
considerations on what the Council’s approach should be to gambling for the 
next three years.  Since the introduction of the Geofutures Gambling 
Vulnerability Index in 2016 officers have considered a wide array of 

Page 30



information, research, and cases.  Officers have also taken a steer and the 
views of the Licensing Committee on what it felt should be considered and 
included within this policy to assist members in considering and determining 
gambling applications.   

 
3.5 The new policy is intended to be a tool that can be used by all stakeholders 

involved in the licensing process.  The level of detail, and in some cases the 
repetition of the requirements in the legislation, Codes of Practice and 
Guidance is necessary to better inform the relevant stakeholder using the 
policy who may have little to no understanding of the legislative framework for 
gambling.  Some respondents made reference to the Regulators Code and 
that the draft policy did not meet that code.  The Council does not agree that 
the draft policy does not comply with the Regulators’ Code and the Code was 
considered in the initial drafting of the policy.     

 
3.6 The Council intends that this policy will be used by applicants so that they 

provide the Council with an application that will likely meet the policy 
requirements and contain sufficient information and associated documents to 
demonstrate that.   The policy is also intended to be used by responsible 
authorities, residents and businesses when considering applications and 
deciding whether to make a representation to the application.   

 
3.7 The new policy is very much based on the assessment of the risk of a 

gambling activity, its operation and where it is located within the city. To assist 
applicants and other parties using this policy the Council has produced a 
Local Area Profile (LAP) for gambling which provides detail on local 
demographic and social economic factors, spatial based information on 
sensitive buildings and our gambling vulnerability index methodology, 
evidence base and findings.  The LAP has been linked with the new policy 
through a set of spatial policies. Applications in areas identified within the 
spatial policies will be expected to assess the risk and specific points 
identified within the LAP as part of their gambling risk assessment which will 
accompany any application.   

 
3.8 The Policy adoption has been delayed as the Council changed its 

administration and the new Cabinet Member for Communities and Public 
Protection reviewed the policy approach. The Cabinet Member has now fully 
approved this policy and recommends it to Full Council for adoption.     

 
4. Consultation  
 
4.1  Before the Licensing Authority can formally adopt and publish a revised 

Gambling Policy, it is required under Section 349 of the Act to consult the 
following: 

 
(a) Police,  
(b) Fire Authority,  
(c) Public Health, 
(d) any persons who represent personal licence holders,  

Page 31



(e) any persons who represent premises licence or club premises 
certificate holders, 

(f) any persons who represent businesses, and, 
(g) any persons who represent residents.    

 
4.2 On the 27 September 2021, the Council began its consultation on proposed 

revisions to its Gambling Policy in accordance with the Act.  In addition to 
contacting the statutory consultees referred to in 4.1(a) to (g) this consultation 
was promoted to the public, resident associations, amenity societies and 
businesses. The consultation ran for a period of nine weeks and ended on 28 
November 2021.   

 
4.3 The Council provided an online survey throughout the consultation period for 

statutory consultees, residents, and other interested parties. This survey set 
out questions relating to the proposed revisions to the Gambling Policy, along 
with questions to identify in what capacity they were completing the survey, 
e.g. resident or business. In addition to the survey, the Licensing Authority 
also received responses via email. These email responses have been 
combined with the submissions made via the online survey. 

 
4.4 The consultation on the proposed revisions of the Gambling Policy set a 

number of questions relating to these proposals. Some of the questions were 
whether the respondent agreed or disagreed (yes or no) with the proposals. 
We also asked for views on the proposals and whether respondents had 
further comments, which they could explain in writing. 

 
5. Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
5.1 The Council received 12 responses from a total of 25 organisations (including 

some joint responses) to the consultation.  These organisations were: 
• 12 Gambling Operators or their legal representatives 
• 8 Business Improvement Districts 
• 3 representative organisations 
• 1 Amenity Society 
• 1 other organisation (Citizen’s Advice Bureau) 

 
5.2 Officers have reviewed the responses and, where the respondent has not 

specifically stated the revision, they are commenting on, have assigned 
comments based on the relevant content. A summary of the submissions to 
the consultation is included at Appendix 2 with the Licensing Authority’s 
response.  

 
5.3 In considering the consultation responses, particularly from the gambling 

sector officers offered to meet with all of the gambling operators or trade 
associations who responded to the consultation as these often included some 
challenges to the proposed policy approaches.  A number of operators and 
trade organisations accepted the invitation to meet and engage on the 
proposed new policy and provide greater clarity on their response to the 
consultation. Officers met with representatives and their legal advisers from 
William Hill, Paddy Power, Rank Group, BACTA, Bingo Association and the 

Page 32



Betting and Gaming Council.  These engagement meetings took place 
between January and February and were extremely constructive.  The 
outcome of these meetings provided officers with a greater understanding of 
their concerns. 

 
6.  Policy Approach Following Consultation Responses 
 
6.1 Although officers have summarised the responses to the consultation and the 

Council response to those points in Appendix 2 it is important to set out the 
changes that the Council has made to the specific policies and the reasons for 
the proposed changes.  

 
Gambling Risk Assessment Policy C1 

 
6.2 The Gambling Risk Assessment Policy sets the standard on what the Council 

expects of applicants and licensed premises operators with respect to their 
gambling risk assessment. Operators must produce a gambling risk 
assessment for each gambling premises by the Gambling Commissions 
Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice social responsibility code provision 
9.1.1.   

 
6.3 This policy is based on the previous guidance on risk assessments that was 

published by the Council.  The policy expects applications for provisional 
statements, new and variation applications to accompany their applications 
with their gambling risk assessment.  This risk assessment must include the 
consideration and mitigation proposed to address four elements, the local 
risks as identified by the operator or the Council’s LAP, the gambling 
operational risks associated with the new premises operation or variation of 
the existing operation, an assessment of the design risks associated with the 
proposed operation internally and externally and an assessment of the control 
measures based on systems, design and physical measures that will be or 
are in place to eliminate or mitigate the risks identified. 

 
6.4 The Council has provided a template gambling risk assessment form as an 

appendix to the policy which applicants or existing licensees can use.   
 
6.5 Generally there was limited comments on this specific policy.  However, 

William Hill felt that the wording within this policy implied that the Council 
expected applicants to use its risk assessment template and did not mention 
that applicants or licensees would have their own version. 

 
6.6 The Council did not intend to imply within this policy that operators must use 

the Council’s own risk assessment template.  To ensure clarity on this point 
the policy has been amended to make it clear that operators can use their 
own risk assessment format or the version provided by the Council. 

 
 Licensing Objective Policies D1 – D3 
 
6.7 The proposed policy sets out the Council’s approach that it will have to the 

consideration of applications and their impact on the licensing objectives.  

Page 33



These new policies set out, in far greater detail than had previously been 
provided, the key considerations that the Licensing Authority will have when 
considering the application and the impact on the Licensing Objectives.  
These licensing objective policies are: 

 
(a) Preventing Gambling from Being a Source of Crime or Disorder, Being 

Associated with Crime or Disorder or Being Used to Support Crime 
Policy (D1) 

(b) Ensuring that Gambling is Conducted in a Fair and Open Way Policy 
(D2) 

(c) Protecting Children and Other Vulnerable Persons from Being Harmed 
of Exploited by Gambling Policy (D3) 

 
Preventing Gambling from Being a Source of Crime or Disorder, Being 
Associated with Crime or Disorder or Being Used to Support Crime Policy D1 

 
6.8  The new Crime and Disorder Policy sets out the Council views on how it will 

consider applications associated with this licensing objective.  It sets out 
several key criteria and considerations that the Licensing Authority will have 
when determining applications under this policy.  Although the Licensing 
Authority will aim to permit applications, in accordance with Section 153 of the 
Gambling Act, this policy confirms the Licensing Authority’s approach to 
applications that are not reasonably consistent with this licensing objective.  
Such applications that are not reasonably consistent with the criteria and the 
considerations of this policy will not meet this objective’s requirement and may 
be refused.  

 
6.9 Counter Terrorism is a significant area of consideration in light of recent 

attacks within Westminster, London and the UK.  The risk of terrorism is a 
constant threat, and any terrorist activity is a criminal act.  The Council, in 
partnership with the Metropolitan Police, as a responsible authority under the 
Act expects new and existing gambling operators to consider and mitigate the 
risk of terrorism in or around their premises.  Gambling premises range in size 
and scale but all premises operators must consider the risk associated with 
terrorism based on the risk associated with their premises, the number of 
customers, the location of that premises and the likely profile of their premises 
or location. Premises, such as casinos in the heart of the West End may have 
a greater risk than a small Adult Gaming Centre in Edgware Road.  However, 
all gambling premises need to be aware and take action on preventing 
terrorism in and around their premises.  

 
6.10 In the original draft of the policy it was required that all applicants must 

consider the likely risk of their operation, their location and history relating to 
terrorism in the City.  This was included as a criteria to the consideration of all 
applications under the Crime and Disorder objective.  However, following 
comments from Paddy Power and further consideration on the implication of 
the number of assessments the Metropolitan Police Service would need to 
assess, even in areas of low risk the Council has decided to amend this policy 
to encourage the completion of these assessments.   

 

Page 34



6.11 The amended policy will now encourage applicants to undertake the terrorism 
risk assessments based on the risk of their venues.  This is not a mandatory 
requirement, and the Licensing Authority will not be expecting applicants to 
produce these assessments as part of their application nor will the Licensing 
Authority request to see such documents.  The Police, outside of the context 
of the Gambling Act 2005 may ask to see these documents based on 
business risk.  This will be a matter between the operator and the Police who 
are carrying out their role to deter and prevent terrorism.   

 
Ensuring that Gambling is Conducted in a Fair and Open Way Policy D2 

 
6.12  The new Fair and Open Way Policy sets out the Council’s views on how it will 

consider applications associated with this licensing objective.  It sets out 
several key criteria and considerations that the Licensing Authority will have 
regard to when considering whether applications meet this policy.  Although 
the Licensing Authority will aim to permit applications this policy confirms its 
approach to applications that do not meet the licensing objective.  Such 
applications that fail to meet the criteria and the considerations of this policy 
and therefore not meet this objective requirement will not be granted. 

 
6.13 There was limited to no comments about this policy.  The Council will make 

some very minor typographical amendments, but the policy approach will 
remain unchanged. 

 
Protecting Children and Other Vulnerable Persons from Being Harmed of 
Exploited by Gambling Policy D3 

 
6.14 The new Protecting Children and Other Vulnerable Persons Policy sets out 

the Council’s views on how it will consider applications associated with this 
licensing objective.  It sets out a number of key criteria and considerations 
that the Licensing Authority will have when considering whether applications 
meet this policy.  Although the Licensing Authority will aim to permit 
applications this policy confirms its approach to applications that do not meet 
the licensing objective.  Such applications that fail to meet the criteria and the 
considerations of this policy and therefore not meet this objective requirement 
will not be granted. 

 
6.15 In developing this policy the Council set out the criteria and considerations it 

will have when considering whether an application was reasonably consistent 
with this policy and the licensing objective. One of the growing factors that 
concerns the Council is around the protection of children and specifically 
around safeguarding and child sexual exploitation.  The new policy included a 
number of specific criteria that the Council expected applicants to address, 
including staff training, systems to record and report concerns and having a 
senior manager who will champion child safety within the organisation.   The 
intention of the policy and the inclusion of safeguarding and child sexual 
exploitation was to ensure that staff were trained and understood what to look 
out for when either interacting with children or where children were present 
inside or directly outside the venue.   

 

Page 35



6.16 The Council also included criteria and considerations specifically around the 
protection of vulnerable persons and safeguarding vulnerable adults.  The 
Council set out its expectations on operators to train staff, put systems in 
place to deal with any concerns about a vulnerable adult and who to report it 
to.   

 
6.17 A number of gambling operators challenged the level of detail and the scope 

of the requirements.  Some also stated that the proposed policy went beyond 
the scope that the objective requires.  Gambling operators stated that 
safeguarding of children and adults and preventing child sexual exploitation 
were really important.  However, the Council, within the policy was creating a 
significant burden on operators without adequately considering that a large 
proportion of gambling premises would be very low risk.  The views of 
gambling operators were sought by officers at the meetings arranged 
following the close of the consultation period.  These meetings enabled 
gambling operators and trade associations to explain the challenges that they 
would face in meeting this policy and why they felt it was unreasonable and 
went beyond the scope of the licensing objective under the Act.   

 
6.18 Officers took on board the comments made by the gambling operators and 

trade associations.  The key issue was the level of detail and requirements 
within the original draft of the policy.  The Council still believes that applicants 
and licensed operators should consider safeguarding of adults and children 
and child sexual exploitation as part of the considerations around their 
operation and that this would be reasonably consistent with this licensing 
objective. 

 
6.19 The Council now intends to amend this policy and remove the detailed criteria 

from the policy.  The Council, within this policy will now expect applicants and 
licensed premises operators to develop and maintain systems to adequately 
safeguard children and other vulnerable persons and that those systems may 
include the designation of one or more senior staff members to champion the 
protection of children and other vulnerable persons, and the applicant intends 
to implement safeguarding training to ensure staff have a basic awareness of 
safeguarding children and other vulnerable adults.   

 
6.20 Having listened to gambling operators and their views we acknowledge that 

they will be best placed to assess the risks associated with this licensing 
objective and identify key mitigation and control measures to eliminate or 
minimise any harm.  However, the Council does believe that safeguarding 
should be part of all gambling operators’ considerations and it should not be 
limited to children.  Vulnerable adults are particularly susceptible to being 
exploited or, due to mental impairment, not fully understand the risks 
associated with gambling.  We want all gambling operators to champion 
safeguarding within their organisation and we will continue to support them in 
achieving this if required.   

 
6.21 Although the Council has amended the main policy as described above, we 

have chosen to retain the detail and information around safeguarding children 
and adults and child sexual exploitation.  This provides information that may 

Page 36



be useful to applicants and licensees when considering potential safeguarding 
training for staff or looking to do more to support potential vulnerable adults. 

 
Hours Policy 

 
6.22 The new Hours policy sets out the Licensing Authority’s approach to the hours 

in which gambling activities can be provided.  This policy is intended to set out 
the key considerations that the Licensing Authority will have relating to the 
hours when determining applications.   

 
6.23 The hours when a gambling premises is operating will have a significant 

impact on the risks associated with that operation, its customers and the wider 
community.  Whilst the Council acknowledges that it cannot restrict the hours, 
in some circumstances when certain gambling activities can be provided (e.g. 
gaming machines) it can restrict the hours of the main gambling activities.  
The default hours specified in the Gambling Act 2005 (Mandatory and Default) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2007 (the 2007 Hours Regulations) are 
considered to be reasonable and appropriate for the general operation of 
premises uses to which they apply, namely casinos, bingo and betting 
premises. 

 
6.24 Westminster has an extremely large and vibrant evening and night-time 

economy.  This attracts significant numbers of people into the city in the 
evening and at night.  We are also aware that research into gambling 
behaviour, such as the NatCen Patterns of play: analysis of date from 
machines in bookmakers 2014 identified that those who play gaming 
machines after 8pm at night have very distinct patterns of play and that higher 
risk category B gaming machines increased in popularity in the evening. The 
Council is concerned that due to the significant numbers of people in the 
evening and night-time economy and the availability of gambling premises 
there is a greater risk of harm to persons who may be at greater risk of 
gambling related harm.  Westminster also has the highest concentration of 
alcohol licensed premises in the Country and alcohol can be an additional risk 
factor for those gambling late at night.   

 
6.25 The original draft of this policy duplicated the default hours specified in the 

2007 Hours Regulations for casinos, bingo and betting premises.  Applicants 
would be expected to make applications with these hours and if they wished 
to operate beyond them outside a Gambling Vulnerability Zone they would be 
considered on their own merits and subject to the specific considerations 
within that clause of the policy.  For applications for premises that were inside 
a Gambling Vulnerability Zone the policy would be to refuse such applications.  

 
6.26 For casinos operators, they are able to apply to vary their premises licence 

and move it to another premises within the city.  However, in moving that 
business, if the operational hours for the current licence were beyond the 
hours specified within the original draft policy, they would be excepted to 
demonstrate why those hours should be permitted having taken account of 
the relevant risks in that area.   

 

Page 37



6.27 For the gambling premises uses that do not have default hours, adult gaming 
centres, family entertainment centres and unlicensed family entertainment 
centres the policy referred to the hours that these premises must operate to 
under the Council’s Pleasure Fairs (Amusement Premises) Byelaws, made by 
and adopted in pursuant with Section 75 of the Public Health Act 1961, as 
amended by Section 22 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976.  The current hours contained within Regulation 4 of the Byelaw is 
9am to midnight seven days a week and this is referenced in the policy.   

 
 
6.26 All of the gambling operator and gambling sector trade associations made a 

representation to this policy.  The general view from the casino, bingo and 
betting premises operators and trade associations was that the Council 
should not be specifying an hour and the default hours were not mandatory.  
There were also questions about whether the proposed policy to refuse 
applications beyond the hours met the Section 153 principle that the Council 
must aim to permit gambling.   

 
6.27 The British Amusement Catering Trade Association (BACTA) had a specific 

view on the interpretation of the use of the Council’s Byelaw hours for adult 
gambling centres, family entertainment centres and unlicensed family 
entertainment centres.  They do not believe that the Byelaws apply to these 
licensed premises and that they were therefore able to operate up to 24 hours 
a day.   

 
6.28 The casino sector were also concerned about the original drafting of the policy 

and the uncertainty that a casino operator would have if they had to move 
their premises from their current location to a new building located in a 
Gambling Vulnerability Zone.  In those circumstances the policy could lead 
the Licensing Authority to limit their operation or even refuse the application to 
vary that licence to the new location if the hours were beyond the policy 
hours.   

 
6.29 The hours policy was discussed with the gambling operators and trade 

associations during meetings following the close of the consultation period.  
The views around this policy were expressed and each sector had their own 
view on the implications of this policy on their sector.    

 
6.30 The Council has considered the views in the responses to the consultation 

and from those expressed during engagement meetings between some 
respondents and officers.  The Council, having considered these views intend 
to amend elements of this policy. 

 
6.31 Westminster has the largest number of casino premises in the country, and 

they do attract customers more widely than within the area they are located.  
Some of these casinos are particularly popular with tourists, being in the heart 
of the West End.  Casinos are also unique in that the Licensing Authority 
cannot grant any new licences and existing casino licences cannot be moved 
outside of Westminster.  Therefore, these licences are very different to those 
of bingo and betting premises which have no restrictions on the operator 

Page 38



seeking new licences in or beyond Westminster.  All of the casinos in 
Westminster have licences that permit them to provide casino games and 
gambling activities 24 hours a day.   

 
6.32 Having considered the points raised by casino operators and some other 

respondents the Council has amended the policy to set out the current hours 
of operation for the licensed casinos within Westminster.  The policy hours for 
casinos will stated that the policy hours are 24 hours a day. The potential 
uncertainty that the original policy drafting had for casino operators who may 
wish to move their venue from its current location into an area designated as 
a Gambling Vulnerability Zone has also been addressed.  The amendment to 
the hours for casinos now means that any variation to move the premises will 
not be subject to a specific hours policy clause to justify the hours to which 
they are already permitted to operate.  It is expected that, subject to the 
operator satisfying the Licensing Authority that they meet the other policies 
within the statement the licence would be varied from one premises to another 
within a Gambling Vulnerability Zone with the same hours as they are 
currently permitted to operate too.   

 
6.33 The Council does not intend to amend the hours for bingo and betting 

premises.  However, it has agreed to amend the original drafting of the policy 
relating to refusing applications beyond the policy hours for these venues 
within a Gambling Vulnerability Zone.  The policy has been amended to 
remove the presumption to refuse and set out the Council’s approach in line 
with the requirements of Section 153 of the Act.  The Licensing Authority will 
aim to permit gambling but, none the less may refuse applications within a 
Gambling Vulnerability Zone unless the authority is satisfied that the 
application should be granted in accordance with the licensing objectives and 
with regard to the specified matters within Clause B of the policy. This 
amendment to the policy better sets out the approach that the Licensing 
Authority may take and what applicants are therefore expected to 
demonstrate if they are seeking longer hours than those specified in this 
policy within a Gambling Vulnerability Zone.    

 
6.34 The Council has considered the views of BACTA with regard to the 

interpretation and reference to the hours within the Council’s Pleasure Fairs 
(Amusement Premises) Byelaws, made by and adopted in pursuant with 
Section 75 of the Public Health Act 1961, as amended by Section 22 of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.  However, it is the 
Council’s view that these Byelaws do apply, and it is right to make reference 
to them within this policy.  This provides clarity and transparency around the 
expectations and requirements for operators of these premises in respect of 
operating hours within Westminster.  

 
Spatial Policies F1 – F2 

 
6.35 The new policies for spatial considerations are based on the evidence 

presented in the Council’s LAP.  The LAP provides information that will assist 
applicants complete their local gambling risk assessments and provide 
localised information on at risks areas, groups and locations which will help 

Page 39



inform applicants, responsible authorities, residents, businesses, and 
Licensing Sub-Committees when considering applications.  The policies 
associated with the spatial considerations are:  

 
(a) Location Policy (F1) 
(b) Gambling Vulnerability Zones Policy (F2)  

 
6.36  A number of respondents referred to the evidence base and the LAP as part 

of their submission.  It is important to note that the gambling vulnerability 
index within the LAP is based on the model developed by Geofutures for the 
Council in 2016.  The gambling vulnerability index within the LAP includes the 
most recent data available to the Council.  The Council has also added to the 
original data sets that were used by Geofutures so as to better represent 
some of the groups identified as being at greater risk to gambling related 
harm.  The model that Geofutures produced and to which the LAP gambling 
vulnerability index is modelled on is accepted as good practice by the 
Gambling Commission.   

 
6.37 The data that was used for the LAP’s gambling vulnerability index was also 

confirmed as the most relevant data in the Public Health England’s: 
Gambling-related harms: evidence review which was published in September 
2021.  That evidence review confirmed the data sets that the Council used as 
part of its LAP and gambling vulnerability index modelling.   

 
6.38 The LAP is a key document for the Council’s entire Gambling Policy and is an 

important tool for perspective applicants, responsible authorities, residents 
and businesses.  The LAP and its findings have been key in providing an 
evidence base for our spatial policies.  

 
Location Policy F1 

 
6.39 There were limited comments on this specific policy but there were general 

comments about location and the consideration of risk.   The Council intends 
to make some very minor amendments associated with typographical 
changes. This predominantly relates to Clause C where the original drafted 
policy only referenced premises that are within close proximity to an identified 
hot spot and/or Gambling Vulnerability Zone.  However, as the scale of the 
hotspot within the mapping is 50 meters by 50 meters it is possible that an 
application could be made within the actual hotspot.  The wording of this 
policy has been slightly amended to reflect this possibility.   

 
Gambling Vulnerability Zones Policy F2 

 
6.40 This policy received a number of comments, particularly from the gambling 

sector respondents.  The key issues were the evidence base, the size of the 
Gambling Vulnerability Zones and the policy approach to refuse applications 
that are beyond the hours specified within the Hours Policy E1 within a 
Gambling Vulnerability Zone.   

 

Page 40



6.41 The original policy required applicants to consider the Council’s LAP and the 
specific local risks within the Gambling Vulnerability Zone where the premises 
will be or is located. The policy sets out an expectation that the applicant 
would set out the considerations they have had with regard to the location and 
the LAP, considered any other information that may be relevant to local risks 
to the licensing objectives, which could include representations for 
responsible authorities or residents and put forward sufficient control 
measures that were above and beyond what was expected from a similar 
application outside of a Gambling Vulnerability Zone.  The policy also stated 
that the Licensing Authority would refuse applications within one of the Zones 
if the hours were more than the relevant hours for that premises use within the 
Hours Policy.  The policy designated seven Gambling Vulnerability Zones to 
which this policy would apply.   

 
6.42 The Council met with several respondents from the gambling sector and this 

policy was discussed in some detail.  Several respondents from the gambling 
sector questioned the legality of the wording and that they felt that the 
presumption to refuse didn’t meet the aim to permit principle within Section 
153 of the Act.  The size of the zones was also commented upon as taking up 
a considerable area of the city.   

 
6.43 William Hill commented on why, if there was a risk-based approach to the 

policy, should this policy demand applicants and licensees to put forward 
measures that are above that which would be expected from similar premises 
outside of a Gambling Vulnerability Zone.  They made the point that in some 
cases the measures that are already in place may be sufficient to address the 
perceived risk inside that zone.  They stated that the current drafting of 
Clause B.3 assumes that any measures that are already in place are not 
adequate. 

 
6.44 Having reviewed the responses received following the consultation and the 

views expressed to officers during the engagement meetings with gambling 
operators and gambling trade associations the Council intends to make some 
amendments to this policy.   

 
6.45 To address the point raised by William Hill over Clause B3 and the 

expectation that applicants would need to provide measures above that which 
would normally be expected of applications outside of a Gambling 
Vulnerability Zone the Council will amend this sub-clause.  This revised 
wording will be in line with the wider risk-based policy approach that runs 
through the statement of principles and will ensure that applicants understand 
that the Licensing Authority will expect the local risks within the zone to be 
reviewed and mitigated.  Such mitigation may be measures that are already in 
place and are deemed suitable based on the level of risk.   

 
6.46 The Council has redrafted Clause C which originally stated the Council would 

refuse applications within a Gambling Vulnerability Zone that sought hours 
beyond those specified in the hours policy.  The revised clause will be in line 
with the aim to permit principle under Section 153 of the Act but will remove 
the reference to the hours policy.  The emphasis of this policy relates to the 

Page 41



application within a Gambling Vulnerability Zone.  The hours of operation for 
the premises will be considered under the Hours Policy instead.  The policy 
approach will therefore be that the Licensing Authority will aim to permit 
applications, but none the less may refuse applications that seek to provide 
gambling facilities within a Gambling Vulnerability Zone unless sufficient 
reasons and risk mitigation have been provided and the Licensing Authority is 
satisfied that the application should be granted in accordance with the 
Gambling Commissions Codes of Practice and Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities, that it is reasonably consistent with the Licensing Objectives and 
that it meets all matters identified within this policy and any other policies 
within the Council’s Statement of Principles for Gambling. 

 
6.47 The Council does not intend to change the size or designated Gambling 

Vulnerability Zones under this policy.  The zones have been identified from 
the areas within the LAP that have the highest levels of risk within the 
gambling vulnerability index.  It is reasonable and proportionate to highlight 
these zones within this policy so that applicants are aware that there is a need 
to specifically identify and assess the risk associated with their gambling 
operation and the risk of gambling related harm to those living or working in 
the area. 

 
Betting Premises Clusters Policy 

 
6.48 This policy was referenced in some of the responses to our consultation and 

particularly those from the betting sector.  The policy was intended to highlight 
the potential elevated levels of risk associated with a cluster of betting 
premises and B2 gaming machines on those who live within close proximity to 
the premises.  In 2016 Geofutures published a report called “Examining the 
effects of proximity and concentrations of B2 machines to gambling places”.  
This report identified that there was a greater prevalence of people who had 
higher scores on the problem gambling severity index who lived in closer 
proximity (200 meters) to a cluster of betting premises (3 or more betting 
premises within 200 meters of each other).  This study looked at player 
behaviour and the spatial distribution of betting premises to problem 
gambling.  

 
6.49 The concerns from residents associated with the clustering of betting 

premises has been raised since there was an increase in betting premises 
following the introduction of the Gambling Act.  The most significant concerns 
have focused on the B2 gaming machines, commonly referred to as Fixed 
Odds Betting Terminals (FOBT’s).  The game play of these machines are 
considered to be attractive and popular with betting premises customers.  
However, the gameplay linked with the ability to place up to £100 stake at any 
one time was a considerable concern and many case studies were highlighted 
in the press around the perceived risks associated with these machines and 
gambling related harm.  The Government, in 2018 acted on this concern and 
reduced the stake from £100 to £2.   

 
6.50 This change in the stake along with consolidation of estates within the betting 

sector has resulted in a reduction of betting premises across the Country.  In 

Page 42



Westminster the reduction in betting premises has been significant with over 
45% of betting premises closing within two years.  

 
6.51 This policy required applicants to consider if a premises is located in or will 

create a betting cluster consisting of 3 of more betting premises within 200 
meters of each other.  The original drafted policy set out the Licensing 
Authority’s approach to determining applications.  Applications that were 
outside a Gambling Vulnerability Zone would be considered on their own 
merits and subject to the application is not contrary to any other policies within 
the statement, the applicant had assessed the risks associated with its 
operation and the betting cluster, and that the applicant had put forward 
control measures that would mitigate or eliminate any risks to the licensing 
objectives.  The policy also stated that applications within a Gambling 
Vulnerability Zone that created or added to an existing betting premises 
cluster would be refused.   

 
6.53 The key concern from the respondents to the consultation who commented on 

this policy focused on the policy to refuse applications within a Gambling 
Vulnerability Zone that created or added to a betting premises cluster.  During 
conversations with betting operators and officers this policy was discussed 
and the same concerns from the betting sector were raised.   

 
6.54 The Council has carefully considered the responses to the consultation and 

the views of betting operators during the engagement meetings with officers.  
The Council has also reflected on the evidence base and whether it is 
sufficiently robust to support the introduction of this policy.  In light of those 
responses and discussions from betting sector operators the Council has 
decided to remove this policy for the final draft of the Council Gambling Policy.   

 
Premises Use Policies 

 
6.55 The Council, in developing its new Gambling Policy implemented a new policy 

framework that was like the approach taken within its Licensing Policy.  The 
Premises Use policies are intended to focus on specific policy considerations 
associated with that premises gambling use.  It was found in the previous 
versions of the Council’s Gambling Policy that applicants often dismissed 
elements of policies as they didn’t relate to their gambling operation.  This 
new policy approach means that applicants can now focus on the relevant 
premises use policies that applies to their proposed or current gambling 
premises.  This approach has meant that some policies are duplicated across 
different gambling premises uses.  

 
6.56 The Council has also added significant detail to the polices associated with 

the premises use and operation.  This is necessary as the Council intends the 
statement of principles for gambling to be a key tool for different stakeholders 
when assessing applications.  This includes the Council’s own Licensing and 
enforcement officers.    

 
Casino Policies G1 

 

Page 43



6.57 The Council has considered the responses received following the consultation 
period and the discussions it has had with the casino sector.  The Council 
does not intend to make significant changes to reduce the number of policies 
or the level of detail within them.  The level of detail is necessary to inform 
and guide applicants and other parties on the Council’s considerations when 
determining gambling applications. 

 
6.58 The Council has made some amendments to policies where they reference 

other policies that have been amended following the consultation period. 
Following comments from the casino sector Policy G1-A has been amended 
to provide some level of assurance, within the bounds of not impacting the 
licensing objectives, that any premises moved from one location to another 
will generally be permitted to operate to their current hours permitted on the 
licence at the new location.   The policy references to refusing applications 
beyond the Hours Policy hours have also been removed due to the 
amendment that has been made within that policy to state that casinos can 
operate for 24 hours a day.    

 
6.59 After careful consideration of the responses received during the consultation 

period the Council will remove Clause A.2 from the Gaming Machines within 
Casino Premises Policy G1-F.  This clause required operators to provide 
weighted or secured seating for gaming machine customers.  Other 
measures, in addition to weighted chairs or stools may be appropriate to 
manage any risk associated with the use of such furniture to cause damage or 
injury.  It is also intended to remove Clause 5 from this policy which required 
the operator to enable a facility that staff could remotely disable gaming 
machines if there was a need to prevent a customer from using a gaming 
machine.  After considering the responses received during the consultation 
period this clause is no longer required, and it will be for the operator to 
assess the risk and determine what measures they put in place relating to 
customer protections.   

 
6.60 Several responses questioned whether the current wording of Clause D within 

the Casino Non-Gambling Areas Policy G1-G would meet the aim to permit 
principle under Section 153 of the Act.  The Council will amend this clause to 
fit with the other amended policies where the original draft policy referred to 
refusal.  This clause will now refer to the Licensing Authority’s approach to 
aim to permit applications but that it may refuse applications if they do not 
meet this policy unless it is satisfied that they application should be granted in 
accordance with the relevant regulations, codes of practice, guidance to 
licensing authorities and the licensing objectives.  However, the Council will 
retain the requirement for what would constitute a non-gambling area which 
currently supports the Gambling Commissions guidance.  These areas should 
be used for customers to get away from gambling.  The use of toilets, back of 
house and lobby areas only may not be sufficient to meet the requirements of 
this policy.   

 
6.61 The Council will also make some other minor amendments to either address 

typographical issues in the original drafting or to further clarify some points 

Page 44



that have been raised by respondents to the consultation process which do 
not impact the policy approach within this section.   

 
Bingo Premises Policies G2 

 
6.62 The Council has amended the Bingo Policy G2-A to remove Clause C and D 

from the original draft.  Several responses questioned whether the current 
wording of the policy that would refuse applications within a Gambling 
Vulnerability Zone that were beyond the hours specified in the Hours Policy 
E1 would meet the aim to permit principle in Section 153 of the Act.  The 
Council has considered these responses and reviewed the wording of this and 
other similar policies within this section of the statement.  As this policy 
specifically references that an applicant must meet other policies within this 
statement and in this clause specifically Policy E1 the Council believes that 
these Clauses are no longer necessary and will be deleted. 

 
6.63 After careful consideration of the responses received during the consultation 

period the Council will remove Clause A.2 from the Gaming Machines within 
Bingo Premises Policy G2-E.  This clause required operators to provide 
weighted or secured seating for gaming machine customers.  Other 
measures, in addition to weighted chairs or stools may be appropriate to 
manage any risk associated with the use of such furniture to cause damage or 
injury.  It is also intended to remove Clause 5 from this policy which required 
the operator to enable a facility that staff could remotely disable gaming 
machines if there was a need to prevent a customer from using the machine.  
After considering the responses received during the consultation period this 
clause is no longer required, and it will be for the operator to assess the risk 
and determine what measures they put in place relating to customer 
protections.   

 
6.64 The Council identified a drafting error about the Bingo Premises Door 

Supervisors and Security Personnel Provisions Policy G2-J.   In the original 
drafting the policy did not take in to account that door supervisors or security 
personnel who are directly employed by a bingo premises operator are not 
required to be licensed by the Security Industry Authority (SIA).  However, if a 
bingo operator contracts out its door supervisors or security personnel to a 
third party then those door supervisors and security personnel must be 
licensed by the SIA.  This has been addressed with an amended Clause C 
and further clarification on this point within the rationale for the policy.   

 
6.65 The Council will also make some other minor amendments to either address 

typographical issues in the original drafting or to further clarify some points 
that have been raised by respondents to the consultation process which do 
not impact the policy approach within this section.   

 
Betting Premises Policies G3 

 
6.66 The Council has amended the Betting Shop Policy G3-A2 to remove Clause 

A.4 and B.4 to reflect the removal of the Betting Cluster policy.  Clause C, D, 
E, F and G have been removed following several respondents questioned 

Page 45



whether the current wording relating to the policy to refuse applications that 
do not meet this policy would meet the aim to permit principles within Section 
153 of the Act.  In line with the wider approach taken within this policy the 
Council has decided that these clauses are no longer necessary within this 
policy and will be deleted.   

 
6.67 Following the meeting between officers and William Hill’s representatives it 

was identified that there are variations in approaches around the location of 
betting premises cashier counters.  Within the rationale for the Betting 
Premises Cashier Counters Policy G3-B the Council had stated that locating a 
cashier counter near the entrance of the premises would be preferable to 
reduce the risk associated with access attempts, security, etc.  However, it 
was clear that there are a number of factors that need to be considered and 
gambling operators are best placed to consider and set out their approach 
within their gambling risk assessment.  Therefore, paragraph G3.23 would be 
deleted. 

 
6.68 The Council has decided to retain the requirement in betting premises that 

they ensure that stools or seating for gaming machines are sufficiently 
secured or weighted to prevent them from being used to cause criminal 
damage or assault staff or other customers.  There has been evidence that 
gaming machine stools or seating have been used to cause damage or been 
thrown and caused injury to staff or customers.  The betting sector often place 
weighted stools or secured seating and therefore this sub-clause should 
remain for betting premises uses only. The sub-clause relating to the 
requirement on the operator to have a facility to enable staff to remotely 
disable gaming machines may not be possible in some premises and 
therefore Clause A.5 of this policy will be deleted.  It will be for the gambling 
operator to adequately assess the risk and identify how staff will interact with 
customers over their behaviour or at-risk game play.   

 
6.69 The Council will also make some other minor amendments to either address 

typographical issues in the original drafting or to further clarify some points 
that have been raised by respondents to the consultation process which do 
not impact the policy approach within this section.   

 
 Adult Gaming Centres and Family Entertainment Centres Policies G4 and G5.   
 
6.70 After careful consideration of the responses received during the consultation 

period the Council will remove Clause A.2 from the Gaming Machines within 
Adult Gaming Centres Policy G4-F and Gaming Machines within Family 
Entertainment Centres G5-F.  These sub-clauses required operators to 
provide weighted or secured seating for gaming machine customers.  Other 
measures, in addition to weighted chairs or stools may be appropriate to 
manage any risk associated with the use of such furniture to cause damage or 
injury.  It is also intended to remove Clause 5 from this policy which required 
the operator to enable a facility that staff could remotely disable gaming 
machines if there was a need to prevent a customer from using the machine.  
After considering the responses received during the consultation period this 
clause it no longer required, and it will be for the operator to assess the risk 

Page 46



and determine what measures they put in place relating to customer 
protections.   

 
6.71 The Council will also make some other minor amendments to either address 

typographical issues in the original drafting or to further clarify some points 
that have been raised by respondents to the consultation process which do 
not impact the policy approach within this section.   

 
 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres Policies H1 to H4. 
 
6.72 There were limited to no comments on these policies and apart from minor 

typographical amendments the Council does not intend to make any 
significant changes to these policies. 

 
 Club Permits and Entitlements Policies I1  
 
6.73 There were no comments on this policy and apart from minor typographical 

amendments the Council does not intend to make any significant changes to 
these policies. 

 
 Prize Gaming Policies J1 to J3 
 
6.74 There were no comments on these policies and apart from minor 

typographical amendments the Council does not intend to make any 
significant changes to these policies. 

 
 Alcohol Licensed Premises, Notifications, Permits and Entitlements Policy K1  
 
6.75 It was noted by some respondents that the requirement to undertake a 

gambling risk assessment for an Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 
Permit was a significant burden on licensed premises operators and machine 
suppliers.  It was questioned whether this was reasonable and what the 
benefits would be to the Licensing Authority.  After consideration of the views 
and reasons for this policy approach the Council has accepted that this could 
be over burdensome on permit applicants and have limited value.  Therefore, 
Clause A3 requiring a gambling risk assessment has been deleted.   

 
 Temporary and Occasional Use Notices Policies L1 and L2 
 
6.76 No comments on these policies were received and no amendments will be 

made to these policies.  
 
 Small Society Lotteries 
 
6.77 No comments were received in relation to this section of the policy and the 

Council does not intend to make any amendments.   
 
 Post Serious Incident Assessment, Review of Gambling Premises Licences, 

Cancelations of Permits and Removal of Automatic Entitlements Policies N1 
to N5 

Page 47



 
6.78 No comments were received in relation to this section of the policy and the 

Council does not intend to make any amendments.   
 
7. Legal Implications 
 
7.1 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires the Statement of Licensing 

Principles for Gambling (“Statement”) to be reviewed by the council (as 
Licensing Authority) no later than every three years.  Any amendments to that 
Statement are required to be formally considered and approved by full Council 
following a consultation exercise.  The Statement must be published before 
the expiry of each three-year policy period.  The Council has met this statutory 
requirement with the re-adoption of the previous periods policy which was 
adopted at Full Council in November 2021 and came into force at the end of 
the previous policy period on the 30 January 2022.  This new policy would 
replace the current version and its policy period would end on the 30 January 
2025. 

 
7.2 Section 349(2) of the Gambling Act 2005 allows the Licensing Authority to 

review its Statement from time to time if it is deemed necessary.  If the 
Statement is revised further, following that review, the revised Statement will 
have to be formally considered and approved by full Council and published by 
the council.   

 
7.3 The Gambling Act 2005 (Licensing Authority Policy Statement) (England and 

Wales) Regulations 2006 (“Regulations) specify the legal requirements and 
procedure for drafting and preparing the Statement and any revision to that 
Statement.   

 
7.4 The Cabinet Member for Communities and Public Protection has considered 

and agreed to recommend the new Gambling Policy for adoption at Full 
Council.  Only Full Council can agree to adopt the Council’s Gambling Policy. 

 
7.5 Regulation 7 of the Regulations sets out the procedure for publishing the 

Statement or revised Statement on the council’s website and placing copies of 
these documents for inspection in any of the following places, including:- 

 
 7.5.1 public libraries within Westminster and 

7.5.2 other premises within Westminster as the council considers 
appropriate.   

 
7.6 A notice regarding the adoption of the Statement and any revised Statement 

must also be published in either a local newspaper, a local newsletter for the 
borough or on a public notice board at City Hall or other Council buildings, 
such as its libraries and its website. The Council’s preferred option will be to 
publish the notice of adoption of the new Gambling Policy on its website and 
public notice boards at City Hall and selected libraries.   

 
7.7 The new Gambling Policy is a significantly different policy approach than any 

previous version the Council has produced.  It is also very different than any 

Page 48



other gambling policy in England and Wales and pushes the boundaries on 
policy development for gambling.  This has resulted in some detailed and 
challenging responses that were received during the consultation period on 
the proposed policy.  The respondents that were particularly challenging to 
the Council’s policy approach were from the gambling industry or their trade 
organisations.   

 
7.8 With any new or different policy approaches there is a risk that those who do 

not agree with it or feel the process or evidence that has been used to justify it 
may consider and instigate a legal challenge.  Any such legal challenge is 
likely to be either a Judicial Review or once the policy is in place an appeal 
associated with a decision the Licensing Authority has made with respect to 
the policy.  The likelihood of a legal challenge is high, particularly from the 
gambling industry.  A Judicial Review will require the Council to defend its 
policy and address any points raised by the claimant.  Whilst every effort has 
been taken to ensure the new Gambling Policy is robust and can be defended 
there is no guarantee that the Council will be successful in defending such 
challenges.  In the event that the Council did loose such a challenge the 
Council would be liable for the claimants’ costs as well as our own.  This could 
be significant.   

 
7.9 If the Council were to lose a challenge it may be required to amend part of or 

produce a new Gambling Policy.  This would require the Council to consult on 
any revision or new policy and go through the formal statutory process for 
adoption.    

 
7.10 Legal advice has been provide, please refer to the exempt Appendix 4 for the 

legal implications. Officers and members should have regard to the advice in 
making their recommendations and taking the decision. 

 
8. Financial Implications 
 
8.1 As a result of the proposed policy changes, there will be no impact on either 

the number of businesses which are required to obtain a licence and no 
impact on the price of the licence being charged. There is therefore no impact 
on the income generated by the Council from these changes. Also there will 
be no additional costs arising from implementing the changes or from the 
ongoing management of the licensing activity. 

 
8.2 However, as the adoption of this new and innovative policy could lead to a 

legal challenge by way of a Judicial Review the defence of such a challenge 
would be costly.  The financial implication of such a challenge would relate to 
the defence of such a challenge at court and the associated legal costs.  If the 
Council was to be successful in any challenge it would seek to recover the 
costs incurred in the defence of that challenge.  However, if the challenge was 
successful and a cost order is awarded against the Council then the costs 
could be a significant financial implication to existing budgets.      

 
9. Equalities Impact Assessment 
 

Page 49



9.1  The council, when taking decisions in relation to any of its functions, must 
comply with its public sector equality duty as set out in Section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010 in relation to persons who have protected characteristics.  

 
9.2 Equality and diversity is not a parallel process or something to think about 

once a year. It is a fundamental part of improving services for everyone. It is 
nothing to do with ticking boxes or bureaucracy, and everything to do with 
making Westminster a place where anyone can be happy to live or work. It is 
central to delivering high quality customer services in the heart of London. We 
identify and actively address inequality, where evidence shows that it exists. 

 
9.3 This diversity and the changing nature of Westminster’s population makes  
 Westminster a culturally and socially rich city, which benefits from the different 

experiences, perspectives, and respect for others that this diversity brings. 
 
9.4 Officers have carried out an Equality Impact Assessment and as a result of 

that assessment there are no anticipated impacts as a result of the proposed 
revisions of the Council’s Gambling Policy and Council’s ability to meet its 
duties under the Equality Act.  A copy of the Equalities Impact Assessment is 
attached for reference as Appendix 3. 

 
 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any 
of the Background Papers, please contact: 

Mr Kerry Simpkin, Head of Licensing, Place & Investment Policy 
Innovation and Change 

Tel: 07583 108491, Email: ksimpkin@westminster.gov.uk 
 

Mr Aaron Hardy, Principal Policy Officer 
Innovation and Change 

Tel: 07971 026070, Email: ahardy1@westminster.gov.uk  
 

APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 -  New Gambling Policy following Formal Consultation  
Appendix 2 -  Summary of consultation submissions and Licensing Authority 

response. 
Appendix 3 -  Approved Equalities Impact Assessment (EQIA) 
Appendix 4 -  Confidential Legal Advice to Council. 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

• Westminster City Council’s current Gambling Policy – Effective 30 January 
2022. 

• Gambling Act 2005 and associated Regulations. 
• Gambling Commission Revised Guidance issued under Section 25 of the 

Gambling Act 2005 – May 2021 

Page 50

mailto:ksimpkin@westminster.gov.uk
mailto:ahardy1@westminster.gov.uk


• Westminster City Council’s Local Area Profile for Gambling Risk – October 
2021 

• Consultation responses received during the consultation period. 
 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORTS OF THE GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE HELD ON 19 OCTOBER 
2022  
 
Present: Councillors David Boothroyd (Chairman), Aicha Less, Matt Noble and Paul 
Swaddle 
 
1.  Review of the Member/Officer Protocol 
 
(a) We recommended for approval to the full Council the revised Member/Officer 

Protocol. 
 
(b)  We considered the report which set out the review undertaken to strengthen 

the guidance on relationships between Officers and Members. The intention 
was that the updated protocol helped support the establishment of good 
working relationships between Members and Officers in their work together 
and described their different but complementary roles within the Council. 

 
(c)  We welcomed the review of the protocol and agreed a strong, constructive, 

and trusting relationship between Members and Officers was essential to the 
effective and efficient working of the Council. The suggested amendments to 
the protocol were considered appropriate in bringing the document up to date 
and we noted in particular the importance of including the Nolan Principles in 
the protocol along with a separate section on bullying. 

 
 We recommend: 
 

That the revised Member/Officer Protocol be recommended for approval.  
 
 
2.  Programme of Meetings 2023-2024  
 
(a)  We recommended for approval to the full Council the Programme of Meetings 

for the Committees and Sub-Committees of the Council for the 2023-2024 
municipal year, having regard to the approach we have previously agreed.  

 
(b)  We noted that the principles we previously endorsed for the scheduling of 

formal meetings, which allows for a more consistent approach, have worked 
well to date. Accordingly, these principles have been carried forward for the 
preparation of the 2023-2024 programme of meetings. The programme has 
also been developed to ensure that six meetings of each Policy and Scrutiny 
Committee takes place every year. 

 
(c)  The full Council is required to approve the dates for its meetings and these 

are set out in the recommendation for adoption.  
 

We recommend:  
 
1) That meetings of the Council be held as follows:  
 

17 May 2023 (Annual), 28 June 2023, 20 September 2023,  

Page 53

Agenda Item 11



15 November 2023, 24 January 2024, 6 March 2024, 15 May 2024 
(Annual).  

 
2) That the Programme of other formal Meetings set out in Appendix A 

of the General Purposes Committee report be approved. 
 

 
 

David Boothroyd, Chair 
 
 

_______________________________________ 
 
 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972  
 
Report/Minutes: General Purposes Committee (19.10.2022) 

Page 54


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Council Minutes - 21 September 2022

	9 Future Policy Plan
	10 Report for Full Council: The Council's New Gambling Policy
	11 Reports of the General Purposes Committee: Review of the Member/Officer Protocol and Programme of Meetings 2023-24

